Page 1 of 26

FILED 02-25-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP1841-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MARK J. GAHART,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING RESTITUTION ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JASON A. ROSSELL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Precedent prescribes a court to construe the restitution statute broadly and liberally to allow a victim to recover for a loss from a defendant's crime. In furtherance of this construction, courts don't simply look to the criminal elements or a penalty enhancer to determine whether a defendant victimized another. Restitution cannot be summarily dismissed by characterizing a defendant's conduct as a victimless crime.

Here, the State charged Mark Gahart with operating his vehicle under the influence with a minor passenger present. He drove impaired with his minor daughter in the vehicle. After dropping his daughter off with her mother, he continued to drive under the influence and crashed into another vehicle, injuring its driver. Gahart fled the scene and tried to conceal his vehicle. But law enforcement found him and the State charged him for his criminal conduct.

The minor passenger's mother sought restitution as a crime victim. The circuit court denied the restitution request, reasoning that it was not legally authorized to order restitution. Specifically, the court thought driving impaired with a minor passenger was a victimless crime, so there was no victim to compensate under the restitution statute.

This Court should conclude operating under the influence with a minor passenger is not a victimless crime. The Legislature amended the statutes to criminalize this conduct. The presence of a minor passenger is a specific element a jury must find to convict. The passenger is a victim and, as a minor, the passenger's nonoffending parent is a victim. As victims, the minor and nonoffending parent have constitutional and statutory rights, including the right to restitution. This Court should reverse the circuit court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the circuit court make an incorrect legal determination when it concluded that the crime of operating a vehicle under the influence with a minor passenger had no victim for restitution purposes?

This Court should conclude the circuit court erred in its legal conclusion. The circuit court thought the minor passenger was not a "victim," within the legal meaning of that term. The circuit court concluded that, if there was no victim, then there could be no restitution.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests publication and does not request oral argument. Publication is appropriate because a decision in this case should enunciate a new rule of law in areas of substantial and continuing public interest. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1., 5. Oral argument is unnecessary because the briefs should fully present the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities advanced by each side. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.22(2)(b).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case. The State appeals from a judgment of conviction and order that denied restitution. (R. 69.) In conjunction with Gahart's conviction following his guilty plea to operating a vehicle under the influence with a minor passenger in the vehicle (R. 68:12), the minor passenger's mother had requested restitution (R. 48:4, 10, 16; 73:2). The circuit court orally denied the request, concluding the minor passenger was not legally a "victim," as that term is defined in Wisconsin. (R. 48:18–21.) The court then entered a written order denying restitution (R. 67), awarding no restitution in the judgment of conviction (R. 62:1). The State filed a notice of appeal. (R. 69.)

The crimes. The State charged Gahart with several impaired driving crimes, including a misdemeanor operating a motor vehicle under the influence with a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the vehicle. (R. 20:3.) The State also charged Gahart with a felony hit and run with injury, arising out of the same course of criminal conduct. (R. 20:1.)

The criminal complaint explained that a sheriff's deputy responded to the scene of a traffic collision. (R. 2:2.) The deputy "observed a red pickup truck with significant damage to the rear of the vehicle." (R. 2:2.) The driver of the pickup truck was on scene, bleeding and receiving treatment for multiple cuts. (R. 2: 2.) The driver told the deputy that a black SUV struck the rear of his vehicle. (R. 2:2.) The black SUV had fled the scene. (R. 2:2.)

A sheriff's deputy identified Gahart as the driver of the black SUV who had fled the scene. (R. 2:2.) Gahart was identified because his bumper and license plate fell from his vehicle during the collision and remained on scene. (R. 2:2.) Deputies responded to Gahart's residence where they observed a damaged black SUV parked in a heavily wooded area. (R. 2:3.) Parking the vehicle in the secluded area required driving the vehicle away from the driveway, through a grass yard, and among small trees and brush. (R. 2:3.) Upon later contact, Gahart admitted to having been the driver. (R. 2:3.)

Less than an hour before the collision, Gahart had driven with a minor passenger in the vehicle. (R. 19.) The minor passenger was Gahart's daughter. (R. 91:6.) The minor passenger's mother told the court Gahart "placed her in a vehicle and scared her with his erratic driving from Burlington to Kenosha." (R. 91:3.) She added that the daughter asked Gahart to slow down, but he "silenced her" as he followed other vehicles closely and attempted to "pass everybody." (R. 91:3–4.) Gahart dropped his daughter off at home about 20 minutes before his collision with the other

vehicle. (R. 91:4.) The daughter was under 16 years old when she was Gahart's passenger in his vehicle. (R. 20:3.)

The investigation revealed that Gahart had a prohibited alcohol concentration when he drove and later crashed his vehicle. (R. 2:3; 20:2–3.) The information identified a 0.13 blood alcohol level. (R. 20:2.) Gahart had performed poorly on standard field sobriety tests. (R. 2:3–4.) He had a prior conviction the previous year for refusing a chemical test, a countable prior offense under the graduated penalty structure for impaired driving crimes. (R. 2:4.)

Guilty pleas. Gahart pleaded guilty to one felony and one misdemeanor. (R. 68:12.) He pleaded guilty to the felony hit and run with injury (R. 68:12), for his collision with the red pickup truck, injury to its driver, and fleeing the scene (R. 2:2-3). Gahart also pleaded guilty to operating under the influence with a minor passenger (R. 68:12), for having driven in an impaired state with his minor daughter in the vehicle less than an hour before the collision (R. 19; 20:3). Before accepting this guilty plea, the court explained the three elements that the State would have to prove for the misdemeanor crime: (1) "you operated a motor vehicle on a public highway in the State," (2) "while you did so, you were under the influence of an intoxicant," and (3) "at the time of the operating, there was a child under the age of 16 as a passenger in the vehicle." (R. 68:8-9.) The court dismissed the other impaired driving crimes that arose out of the same course of criminal conduct. (R. 68:13.) The circuit court accepted the guilty pleas and found Gahart guilty. (R. 68:12-13.)

Restitution. Prior to the sentencing, the court received a request for restitution from the minor passenger's mother. (R. 48:4, 10, 16; 73:2.) The minor passenger's mother incurred expenses and fees in a family court proceeding as a result of Gahart's crimes. (R. 73:4.) The minor passenger's mother later explained Gahart had threatened to file contempt

charges against her if she withheld their child from him. (R. 91:4.) She described having "no choice but to file in family court to keep her [daughter] safe." (R. 91:4.) The minor passenger's mother sought \$13,250 in restitution for expenses incurred in family court related to action taken in response to Gahart's impaired driving with her minor daughter in the vehicle. (R. 48:4–7.)

The circuit court denied restitution in an oral ruling at a hearing. At the hearing, the court first considered a purely legal question regarding whether the minor passenger satisfied the legal definition of "victim." (R. 48:7.) The court thought the minor passenger was not a "victim," as that term is legally defined. (R. 48:18–20.) The court's rationale was that the presence of a minor passenger was a penalty enhancement to an operating a motor vehicle under the influence offense—not an element to a crime. (R. 48:18–19.) As to the restitution request, the court framed it as whether there was a causal nexus between the crime and requested restitution that may require testimony from witnesses. (R. 48:23.) The court was "reluctant to make any specific rulings in the areas of causal nexus because this may go up on appeal." (R. 48:21.) The court withheld judgment on the causal nexus question (R. 48:13); it didn't take any testimony from witnesses (see generally R. 48 (no testimony taken).) So the court's decision denying restitution was solely based on the first question regarding the definition of "victim." (R. 48:21.) The court later reduced its oral ruling to a written order denying restitution. (R. 67.)

¹ An earlier restitution hearing took place. (R. 73.) A court commissioner presided over the earlier hearing. (R. 48:20). A circuit court judge then presided at the subsequent restitution hearing and described its review as de novo. (R. 48:2.) The dispositive restitution hearing is the second hearing, which formed the basis of the order denying restitution and judgment reflecting the same.

Case 2021AP001841 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-25-2022 Page 11 of 26

Sentence and judgment. The circuit court withheld sentence on the felony hit and run with injury and imposed jail and a fine on the misdemeanor operating under the influence with a minor passenger. (R. 60:1; 62:1.) Before imposing sentence, the circuit court permitted the minor passenger's mother to address the court. (R. 91:3-6.) The court stated its earlier denial of restitution had "more to do with whether or not the [victim] status applies to the restitution statute" (R. 91:5), not whether the minor passenger's mother was "afforded the opportunity to address the Court because that is one of the rights afforded to victims in the 950 statute and by the Constitution of the State of Wisconsin" (R. 91:6). The court then imposed a two-year probation term on the felony. (R. 60:1.) On the misdemeanor, the court ordered 90 days jail and a \$1,018 fine plus costs and surcharges. (R. 62:1.) The judgment of conviction didn't include any restitution. (R. 62:1.)

Appeal. Upon entry of judgment and the order denying restitution, the State filed a notice of appeal. (R. 69.) This matter now is before this Court on appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The scope of the trial court's authority to order restitution is a question of statutory interpretation." *State v. Hoseman*, 2011 WI App 88, ¶ 12, 334 Wis. 2d 415, 799 N.W.2d 479. This Court reviews de novo whether "the trial court is authorized to order restitution under a certain set of facts, and whether a claimant is a 'victim," as that term is legally defined in Wisconsin. *State v. Vanbeek*, 2009 WI App 37, ¶ 6, 316 Wis. 2d 527, 765 N.W.2d 834.

ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the circuit court's denial of restitution because the minor passenger and the minor's nonoffending parent are victims with a right to restitution.

A. Constitutional and statutory interpretation principles govern this Court's review.

This appeal requires interpreting both constitutional and statutory provisions. The principles governing interpretation of the constitution versus a statute are similar (e.g. examining the plain meaning and context of words), though some differences exist (e.g. weighing framers' intent more heavily than legislative intent). To understand the similarities and differences, it's important here to present the underlying principles of each.

A court examines multiple sources to interpret a constitutional provision that include: (1) "the plain meaning of the words in the context used;" and (2) "the constitutional debates and the practices in existence at the time of the writing of the constitution." *Schilling v. State Crime Victims Rts. Bd.*, 2005 WI 17, ¶ 16, 278 Wis. 2d 216, 692 N.W.2d 623

² A court also examines a third source: "the earliest interpretation of the provision by the legislature as manifested in the first law passed following adoption." *Schilling v. State Crime Victims Rts. Bd.*, 2005 WI 17, ¶ 16, 278 Wis. 2d 216, 692 N.W.2d 623 (quoting *Wisconsin Citizens Concerned for Cranes & Doves v. DNR*, 2004 WI 40, ¶ 44, 270 Wis. 2d 318, 677 N.W.2d 612). But that source isn't yet available here because the relevant constitutional provision, Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m, was amended through a 2020 amendment. *See State v. Johnson*, 2020 WI App 73, ¶ 7, 394 Wis. 2d 807, 951 N.W.2d 616. The relevant statutory provisions, sections 950.02(4)(a) (defining victim) and 973.20 (providing for restitution), have not been legislatively amended since the constitutional amendment.

Case 2021AP001841 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-25-2022 Page 13 of 26

(quoting Wisconsin Citizens Concerned for Cranes & Doves v. DNR, 2004 WI 40, ¶ 44, 270 Wis. 2d 318, 677 N.W.2d 612).

Statutory interpretation principles similarly require looking at the plain meaning of words and in the context used. State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 45–46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. But, "as a general matter, legislative history need not be and is not consulted except to resolve an ambiguity in the statutory language, although legislative history is sometimes consulted to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation." Id. ¶ 51.

A court looks to the plain language of a provision under review with the structure and context important to interpret the provision's meaning. Id. ¶ 45–46. The "language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole . . . and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. ¶ 46. Examining a constitutional or statutory provision's purpose, scope, and context are important: "It is certainly not inconsistent with the plainmeaning rule to consider the intrinsic context in which statutory language is used; a plain-meaning interpretation cannot contravene a textually or contextually manifest statutory purpose." Id., ¶ 49.

Here, this Court must interpret one constitutional provision and four statutes. The relevant constitutional provision both defines "victim" and entitles a victim "[t]o full restitution." Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(1)(a), (2)(m). Two of the relevant statutes similarly define "victim" with a right to restitution. Wis. Stat. §§ 950.02(4)(a); 950.04(1v)(r). The other two statutes are the restitution statute and the crime of operating a vehicle under the influence with a minor passenger. Wis. Stat. §§ 346.65(2)(f); 973.20. This Court should conduct its review under the guiding constitutional and statutory principles.

B. Operating a motor vehicle under the influence with a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the vehicle is a crime.

"A crime is conduct which is prohibited by state law and punishable by fine or imprisonment or both." Wis. Stat. § 939.12. In contrast, "[c]onduct punishable only by a forfeiture is not a crime." Wis. Stat. § 939.12. So conduct punishable by a *fine* is a crime, while conduct punishable by a *forfeiture* is noncriminal. Wis. Stat. § 939.12.

In 2009 Wisconsin Act 100,³ Wisconsin criminalized operating a motor vehicle under the influence of an intoxicant or other drug with a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the vehicle by eliminating a forfeiture penalty, replacing it with a criminal punishment.

Prior to the act, the presence of a minor passenger doubled the *forfeiture* penalty for a first-time offender: "If there was a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the motor vehicle at the time of the violation that gave rise to the conviction [of operating under the influence] under s. 346.63 (1), the applicable minimum and maximum *forfeitures* . . . for the conviction are doubled." Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(f) (2007–08).

After enactment, it was a crime: "If there was a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the motor vehicle at the time of the violation . . . , the person shall be *fined* not less than \$350 nor more than \$1,100 and *imprisoned* for not less than 5 days nor more than 6 months." 2009 Wis. Act 100, § 49 (creating Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(f)1.).

The Legislature was explicit in its intent to convert the forfeiture to a crime. A legislative memo stated that the act made "a first OWI-related offense a *criminal* offense if a child

³ 2009 Wisconsin Act 100 is available at https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2009/related/acts/100.pdf.

younger than 16 years of age is present in the vehicle at the time of the offense." Wisconsin Legislative Council Act Memo⁴ 1 (emphasis added). The memo provided a comparison chart that further emphasized the intent to replace the forfeiture penalty with a criminal punishment:

	[Before Enactment]	2009 Wisconsin Act 100
First Offense OWI (with minor passenger)	\$300 to \$600 forfeiture (civil offense—forfeiture is doubled if minor passenger).	\$350 to \$1,100 fine; 5 days to 6 months term of imprisonment (criminal offense).

Id. at 2.

As part of the Legislature's decision to criminalize this conduct, the act purged reference to a forfeiture penalty from the statute:

If there was a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the motor vehicle at the time of the violation that gave rise to the conviction under s. 346.63 (1), the applicable minimum and maximum forfeitures, fines, or and imprisonment under par. (am) 2. to 7. for the conviction are doubled.

2009 Wis. Act 100, § 48 (renumbering Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(f) to Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(f)2. and amending it to remove reference to a forfeiture).

Operating a motor vehicle under the influence with a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the vehicle is a crime. The State has the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt three elements: (1) The defendant drove or operated a motor vehicle on a highway; (2) The defendant was under the influence at the time the defendant drove or operated the

⁴ The Wisconsin Legislative Council Act Memo is available at https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2009/related/lcactmemo/act100.pdf.

motor vehicle; and (3) "There was a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the vehicle." Wis. JI–Criminal 2663D (2011). The jury instruction is clear that a jury must be "satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that all three elements of this offense have been proved" to find guilt; if the jury is "not so satisfied, [it] must find the defendant not guilty." *Id*. So the presence of the minor passenger is a necessary element of the crime.

C. A crime victim has a constitutional entitlement and statutory right to restitution.

A crime victim has a constitutional entitlement and statutory right to restitution. To understand the right of restitution, it's important to begin by examining the definition of "victim" both within the constitution and statute.

The constitution and statutes define a victim to include both a minor victim and the minor's parents, except when the parent is the defendant. When a minor is victimized, the constitution includes multiple people within the definition of victim. The first victim is the minor because the constitution defines "victim" to include a "person against whom an act is committed that would constitute a crime if committed by a competent adult." Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(1)(a)1. The second victim is the minor's nonoffending parent because the constitution includes that parent within the definition of "victim." *Id.* § 9m(1)(a)3., (b).⁵ The statutes similarly define "victim" to include both the minor "against whom a crime has been committed" and the minor's nonoffending parent. Wis.

⁵ The constitution excludes a nonoffending parent from the definition of "victim" when a court finds that parent would not act in the minor's best interest. Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(1)(b). This exclusory provision is beyond the scope of the issue before this Court, so the State does not address it in this brief beyond recognizing its existence.

Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)1.; see also Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)2., (b). The plain language in both the constitution and statutes make clear "victim" includes both the minor and the minor's nonoffending parent.

A crime victim's constitutional entitlement and statutory right to restitution is clearly established. The constitution entitles a victim to the right of full restitution:

(2) In order to preserve and protect victims' rights to justice and due process throughout the criminal and juvenile justice process, victims shall be entitled to . . . the following right[], which shall vest at the time of victimization and be protected by law in a manner no less vigorous than the protections afforded to the accused:

. . .

(m) To full restitution from any person who has been ordered to pay restitution to the victim and to be provided with assistance collecting restitution.

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