FILED Page 1 of 28
04-20-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

CASE No. 2021AP1841-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff - Appellant,

ν.

MARK J. GAHART,

Defendant - Respondent

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING RESTITUTION ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JASON A. ROSSELL, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT - APPELLEE**

Attorneys for Defendant - Appellee

Theodore B. Kmiec III Kmiec & Noonan, LLC. 24919 84<sup>th</sup> Street Salem, WI 53168 (262) 843 -2165 (262) 843-2031 (Fax) Tkmiec@4law.com

## TABLE OF CONTENT

INTRODUC	TION7	
STATEMEN	NT OF THE ISSUE7	
STATEME	NT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

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

penalty was replaced with criminal punishment and consequences. Prior to Act 100, the civil penalties were doubled, but the offense itself remained a forfeiture. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(f), Wisconsin Act 100 made such conduct a criminal offense: "If there was a minor child in the motor vehicle at the time of the violation... the person shall be fined not less that \$350.00 nor more than \$1,100.00 and imprisoned for not less than five days not more than six months". 2009 Wis. Act 100, § 49 (Which created Wis. Stat. § 346 (2)(f)(1)).

The statute which prohibits Operating A Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant is Wis. Stat. § 346.63, § 346.63(1): "No person may Operate A Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant, ... to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving".

Wis. Stat. § 346.65 is the penalty section for violating sections § 346.62 to § 346.64. Section (2)(f) enhances the penalty from a forfeiture to a criminal offense when certain facts are present.

Wis Stats. § 973.20, the restitution statue, provides for a victim of a crime to seek restitution under certain circumstances specified in that statute.

Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a) states"

- 4. (a) Victim means any of the following:
  - 1) A person against whom a crime is committed.
  - 2) If the person specified is sub. 1 is a child, a parent, guardian or legal custodian of a child.

As Article I applies to restitution, this section only provides for restitution only insofar as the legislature confers that right per statute. The legislature makes restitution available to crime victims under § 973.20 and other statutes, but crime victims are not guaranteed restitution in every instance (Office of Attorney General Opinion, OAG 2-15).<sup>4</sup>

The "Constitutional right" conferred by Article I only comes into effect if the minor child, or her parent, was a "victim" under Wis. Stat. § 950.04(v)(a), § 950.02(4)(a), § 973.20, and Wis. Stat. § 346.65.

This appeal requires interpreting both constitutional and statutory provisions. Constitutional and statutory interpretation principals are similar, in that the plain meaning of context and words are examined.

The sources used to interpret a constitutional provision include (1) the plain meaning of the words in the context used, and (2) the constituitional debates and practices in existence at the time of the writing of the constitution. Shilling v. State Crime Victims Rts. Bd., 2005 WI 17 at 16, 278 Wis.2d 216, 692 N.W.2d 623.

Statutory interpretation principles similiarly require reviewing the plain meaning of words and the context used. State ex rel Kalal v. Cir. Ct for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58. 45-46, 271 Wis. 2de 633, 681 N.W. 110. Mr. Gahadt would agree with the State that this case involves interpretation of Wis. Const. Art. I Section 9m(1)(a), and Wisconsin Stats Secs. 950.02(4)(a); 950.04(1v)(r), 973.20, and 346.65(2)(f).

### B. Operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of

<sup>4</sup> Regarding Attorney General Opinions; Although not obligated to follow interpretations provided by the office of the Attorney General, "Well reasoned OAG opinions have persuasive value when a court later addresses the meaning of the same statute." (Wisconsin Department of Justice Website; https://www.doj.state.wi.us/ag-opinions)

and intoxicant with a minor passenger in the vehicle is a crime, but mere presence of the child does not make the minor passenger a crime "victim" for purposes of § 973.20.

The State in it's brief, declares the minor child a "victim" in this case. But does the mere presence of a minor child in the vehicle automatically confer that status?

Operating A Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant is a criminal offense under 2009 Wisconsin Act 100, § 49, which created Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(f)(1). Prior to Act 100, it was a forfeiture, but the presence of a minor child doubled the forfeiture penalty provisions.

The **presence** of a minor child adds an element of the offense which must be proved by the State beyond a reasonable doubt for criminal penalties to apply. The OWI Statutes consist of two separate provisions: § 346.63 provides the elements that must be proven; § 346.65(2r) provides an enhanced penalty structure based on whether other facts exist: whether there were prior countable OWI offenses, whether there was a minor in the vehicle at the time of operation, and whether there were injuries caused by the operation of the motor vehicle while intoxicated.

There is nothing in § 346.65 (2)(f) that specifically indicates a minor child should be considered as a "victim" under that section. The establishment of that fact by the State is an element of the crime for the purpose of enhancing a forfeiture case to a criminal case and increasing the penalty structure. It does not automatically confer "victim" status to the minor child in the vehicle.

Wisconsin Criminal Law has other examples of where the

penalty for violating a criminal statute is enhanced by the proximity or the presence of a person or place. The Controlled Substances Statute, Wis. Stat. § 961.41, provides it is unlawful to deliver or possess with intent to deliver various controlled substances. Wis. Stat. § 961.49 enhances the maximum term of imprisonment for the listed crimes by five years if the offender is: (a) in or on the premises of a scattered site public housing project, or (b) in, on or within 1000 feet of a park, jail, housing project, swimming pool, youth or community center, private or public school, or school bus. Similar to the Wis. Stats. § 346.65(2)(f)(1), the controlled substance statute add another fact and element the State has to prove to provide for an enhanced penalty for violation of the offense.

With a "broad" interpretation of § 961.49, children at a school within 1000 feet of a controlled substance delivery, could be considered as "victims" of that offense and would be eligible to seek restitution from an offender who delivers a controlled substance within 1000 feet of their school. That is not what the legislature intended in enacting that enhanced penalty.

What Wis. Stat.  $\S$  961.49 and  $\S$  946.65(2)(f) represent are the increased penalties for conduct that increase the potential for harm or danger to the community and to children. They serve the dual purpose of increasing punishment and deterring that type of conduct by individuals who engage in it. Fortunately, the potential for harm and danger to the community are usually not realized.

Operating While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant poses a danger to society in general. Courts across the Nation are faced with OWI cases where citizens are killed or injured by drunk drivers on a daily basis. By adding an enhanced penalty for a motorist who has a child under 16 years of age in the vehicle, the Legislature recognized

the potential for harm or danger posed to a minor passenger when present in a motor vehicle being operated by an intoxicated motorist. But if that potential harm or danger did not occur to the minor while in the vehicle, is that minor a crime victim for the purposes of restitituion in a criminal case? In this case, there were no allegations in the charging documents that the minor child was injured in any way.

The Circuit Court properly recognized the presence of a minor child inside the vehicle as exactly what it is, a penalty enhancer. (R. 91, 19) Mr. Gahart would submit that the minor passenger in this case is not a "victim" based on the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(f), and the facts of this case for purposes of § 973.20.

C. The Definition of victim in the Wisconsin Constitution does not make the child a victim in this case for Wis. Stat. § 973.20 purposes.

The definition of "victim" in Article I of the Wisconsin Constitution is "A person against who an act is committed that would constitute a crime." Does a penalty enhancing statute, separate from the statute defining the crime, make the mere presence of that minor inside the vehicle a fact that confers "victim" status upon her for § 973.20 purposes? Was a crime committed against her? Or is the enhanced penalty intended to protect children present in a vehicle and to deter intoxicated motorists from operating vehicles with children present in that vehicle? OWI is an offense against the public, not necessarily one individual person. The presence of a minor is an aggravating factor that triggers increased punishment.

In this case, the court permitted the minor child's mother to address the court prior to Mr. Gahardt's sentencing. (R. 91 2-6) The court specifically found that the minor child and her mother had

victim status under the Constitution and Wis. Stat. § 950.02 to address the court during sentencing, but that status did not apply for restitution purposes under § 973.20. The legislature makes restitution available to crime victims under § 973.20 and other statutes, but crime victims are not guaranteed restitution in every instance. In this case, the court properly reviewed § 973.20 and found that the minor passenger did not have a right to restitution under the terms of § 973.20.

The Appellant in it's Brief, argues that "Marsy's Law" supports their assumption that a minor passenger in an enhanced OWI case should be considered a "victim" for restitution purposes when a criminal defendant is convicted of that offense. However, Marsy's Law is not designed to punish or deter criminal defendants, but was created to protect victims from systematic wrongdoing and disregard from state actors; specifically law enforcement agencies, prosecutors and judges. 5

A restitution hearing in a criminal proceeding is part of the criminal sentencing process, and serves the goals of the criminal justice system. State v. Sweat, 208 Wis. 2nd 409, 561 N.W. 2d 695 (1997). Marsy's Law is designed to protect victims of crime through the process, but it does not alter the definition of a "victim" contained in the Wisconsin Constitution or the relevant statutes for the purposes of this Appeal. In this case, it appears the State properly regarded the minor passenger's rights and the court allowed her mother to speak at Mr. Gahart's sentencing.

#### The definition of victim in Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a) and D.

<sup>5</sup> Marsy's Law changes for crime victims. Wisconsin Lawyer Article. Restitution is not a cause of action but a sanction for criminal conduct owned by the state, not to the victims. Huml v. Vlazny, 2006 WI 87, ¶ 22, 293 Wis 2d 169, 716 2d 807.

the right to restitution in the Bill of Rights for Crime Victims Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(q) doesn't make the minor child a victim for purposes of § 973.20.

Wisconsin Stat. § 960.02(4) (a) provides:

"Victim" means any of the following:

- 1. A person against whom a crime has been committed.
- 2.If the person specified in subd. 1, is a child, a parent, guardian or legal custodian of the child.

The Bill of Rights for Crime Victims provides that the victims of Crimes have the following rights:

950.04(1v)(g) - To restitution, as provided under Wis. Stats. 938.245(2)(a)5., 938.32(1t), 938.34(5), 938.345, 943.212, 943,23(6), 943,245, 943.51 and 973,20.

In this case, the Court allowed the minor child's mother to address the court under § 950.02 during the sentencing hearing, but found the child not to be a "victim" for restitution purposes under § 973.20, which the court noted was an "entirely different statute". (R. 91, 6) Although § 950.02 confers various rights upon crime victims, the Court found that it did not automatically confer the right to restitution under § 973.20 in this case. The Court correctly decided that § 973.20 is a different statute which sets forth the requirements for restitution to be ordered in a criminal case.

The provisions where a "victim" is entitled to restitution  $\mathbf{E}$ . under Wis. Stat. § 973.20 are not present in this case.

Wis Stat. § 973.20, establishes the situations where restitution can be sought by victims of crime and what they can seek restitution

for:

- (2)If a crime considered at sentencing resulted in damage to or loss or destruction of property, the restitution order may require that the defendant:
  - Return the property to the owner or owner's (a) designee, or
  - (b) If return of the property under para. (a) is impossible, impractical or inadequate, pay the owner or owner' designee the reasonable repair or replacement cost or the greater of:
    - 1. The value of the property on the date of it's damage, loss or destruction; or
    - 2. The value of the property on the date of sentencing, less the value of any part of the property returned, as of the date of it's return. The value of retail merchandise shall be it's retail value.
- (3)If a crime considered at sentencing resulted in bodily injury, the restitution order may require that the defendant do one or more of the following:
  - Pay an amount equal to the cost of necessary (a) medical and related professional services and devices relating to a physical, psychiatric and psychological care and treatment.
  - Pay an amount equal to the cost of necessary (b) physical and occupational therapy and rehabilitation.

- (c) Reimburse the injured person for income lost as a result of a crime considered at sentencing.
- (d) If the injured person's sole employment at the time of the injury was performing the duties of a homemaker, pay an amount sufficient to ensure the duties are continued until the person is able to resume performance of the duties.
- (4)If a crime considered at sentencing resulted in death, the restitution order may also require theat the defendant pay an amount equal to the cost of necessary funeral and related services under § 895.04(5)
- (4m) If the defendant violated § 940.225, § 948.02, § 948.05, § 948.06, §948.07 or § 948.08 and sub. (3)(a) does not apply, the restitution order may require that the defendant pay an amount, not to exceed \$10,000.00, equal to the cost of necessary professional services relating to psychiatric and psychological care and treatment. The \$10,000.00 limit under this subsection does not apply to the amount of restitution ordered under sub (3) or (5) for the cost of necessary professional services relating to psychological care and treatment.
- In any case, the restitution order may require that the (5)defendant do one or more of the following:
  - Pay all special damages, but not general (a) damages, substantiated by evidence in the record, which could be recovered in a civil

- action against the defendant for his or her conduct in the connection of a crime considered at sentencing.
- (b) Pay an amount equal to the income lost, and a reasonable out of pocket expenses incurred, by the person against whom a crime considered at sentencing was committed resulting from the filing of charges or cooperation in the investigation and prosecution of the crime.
- (c) Reimburse any person or agency for amounts paid as rewards for information leading to the apprehension or successful prosecution of the defendant for a crime which the defendant was convicted or to the apprehension or prosecution of the defendant for a read in crime.
- (d) If justice requires, reimburse any insurer, surety or other person who has compensated a victim for a loss otherwise compensable under this section.

The court in this case reviewed Wis. Stat. \$973.20 to determine whether any of the factual situations triggering restitution were present in this case. (R 91,19) The Court found no damage to property, no bodily injury, no death, no sexual assault, no professional services, or relocation services. (R. 91, 20) The Court found that § 973.20 discussed specific outcomes of a defendant's crime, and determined none of them to be present in this case. (R. 91, 20) The Court found that there was no crime committed against

the minor in this case. (R. 91-20)

The Appellant in this case is urging the court to broadly interpret the definition of "victim" for § 973,20 purposes, to include a minor child who is merely present in a vehicle being operated by an intoxicated motorist, when none of the enumerated subsections contained in § 973.20 are present.

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